# **RECEIVED** 04-02-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## STATE OF WISCONSIN C O U R T O F A P P E A L S DISTRICT I Case No. 2018AP000259-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAMIEN FAROLD ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl, Presiding

> BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

## **

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

 Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion in awarding restitution to two victims despite a lack of evidence that the amounts in question were "reasonable" repair costs under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2)(b)?

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication of this case is requested as it will help to guide litigants in future cases with similar facts.

While Mr. Robinson does not request oral argument, he welcomes the opportunity to discuss the case should the Court believe that oral argument would be of assistance to its resolution of the matter.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An information charged Mr. Robinson with eight counts of burglary of a building or dwelling as a party to the crime contrary to Wis. Stats. 943.10(1 m)(a) and 939.05. (5). Mr. Robinson was also charged with a single count of attempted burglary of a building or dwelling as a party to the crime contrary to Wis. Stats. § 943.10(1m)(a), 939.32 and 939.05. (5).

Mr. Robinson pleaded guilty to four counts of burglary of a building or dwelling as a party to the crime. (22:1). The remaining charges were dismissed and read-in. (22:3). He was sentenced to a lengthy term of imprisonment in the Wisconsin State Prison System. (22:1). He was also ordered to pay restitution. (22:1). Mr. Robinson filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (24). He ultimately filed a Rule 809.30 motion seeking modification of his sentence because his substantial cooperation with law enforcement was not discussed on the record at the sentencing hearing. (30). An exchange of written briefs followed. (36; 37). That motion was denied in a written order. (38).<sup>1</sup>

Mr. Robinson timely filed a notice of appeal. (39).

## STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS<sup>2</sup>

#### **Restitution Proceedings**

On February 8, 2017, Mr. Robinson appeared in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl presiding, for sentencing. (48); (App. 105).

At that hearing, the State submitted numerous requests for restitution resulting from the underlying burglaries in which Mr. Robinson participated. (48); (App. 105). Many of those requests were not contested:

S.P. stated that her back door was damaged in a breakin. (7:1). She also had items stolen from her home. (7:1). She requested \$1,000 in restitution for an insurance deductible. (7:1). Mr. Robinson did not object. (48:3); (App. 107). The circuit court ordered \$1,000 in restitution, joint and several with Mr. Robinson's co-defendants. (48:3); (App. 107).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Robinson is not raising that issue on appeal.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  As the only challenged issue is restitution, Mr. Robinson is including only those facts directly relevant to that issue.

- M.F. submitted correspondence from his insurance company attesting that he had also paid a \$1,000 deductible. (17:2). Mr. Robinson stipulated to that amount. (48:4); (App. 108). That amount is also joint and several with Mr. Robinson's co-defendants. (48:4); (App. 108).
- B.R. submitted a restitution worksheet stating that she had both property losses and damage to her door. (8:2). The circuit court ordered Mr. Robinson to repay the cost of the insurance deductible, which was \$500. (48:4); (App. 108). There was no objection from Mr. Robinson. (48:4); (App. 108). That amount is joint and several with Mr. Robinson's co-defendants. (48:4); (App. 108).
- S.M. asked to be reimbursed for her \$500 insurance deductible. (48:6); (App. 110). There was no objection from Mr. Robinson. (48:6); (App. 110). That amount is joint and several with Mr. Robinson's co-defendants. (48:6); (App. 110).
- J.P. asked for \$500 relating to an insurance deductible. (48:6); (App. 110). He also asked that Mr. Robinson repay \$254.24 in lost wages. (48:6); (App. 110). The circuit court ruled that it could not reimburse him for lost wages but that it would order restitution with respect to the insurance deductible. (48:6); (App. 110). There was no objection from Mr. Robinson. (48:6); (App. 110). That amount is joint and several with Mr. Robinson's co-defendants. (53); (App. 105).
- R.R. asked for, and was awarded, \$340 as a result of a broken door. (16:1). There was no objection from Mr. Robinson. (48:13); (App. 117). That amount is joint

and several with Mr. Robinson's co-defendants. (53); (App. 101).

All told, Mr. Robinson agreed to repay \$3,840 with respect to these victims. (53); (App. 101).

However, there were two partially contested restitution requests relating to victims K.S. and M.T. (48); (App. 105).

*K*.*S*.

K.S. submitted a restitution worksheet. (9:2). She requested \$300 for the "cost of replacement door not covered by insurance." (9:2). She also requested \$200 in lost wages related to the door installation. (9:2). She asserted that her insurance deductible was \$500. (9:2). She therefore requested a total of \$1,000. (9:2).

The circuit court initially indicated that K.S. was only entitled to \$300 in restitution. (48:5); (App. 109). However, the State proposed that she be awarded \$800 to account for the deductible and the extra cost of repairing the door. (48:5); (App. 109). Counsel for Mr. Robinson proposed that she only be awarded the amount corresponding to the \$500 deductible. (48:5); (App. 109).

According to the circuit court, "Apparently, the insurance company must of said the door was only worth so much when they paid for everything, and it was \$300 more." (48:6); (App. 110). Counsel for Mr. Robinson began to respond before he was interrupted by the circuit court. (48:6); (App. 110). The circuit court stated, "Maybe she got a stronger door because of what happened." (48:6); (App. 110). It awarded \$800 to K.S. (48:6); (App. 110). According to the circuit court, "I just think that is what she intends." (48:6); (App. 110). M.T.

M.T. submitted two documents. (15; 12). In the first, she claimed \$375 in property losses. (12). She stated that she paid \$550 to have her house boarded up, \$200 to have a door replaced, and \$250 for new locks. (12:2). She also requested \$300 for acupuncture expenses. (12:2). She declined to file an insurance claim. (12:2). Altogether, she asked for \$1,675 in restitution. (12).

In the second document she claimed that she had suffered \$409.83 in property losses as a result of the burglary. (15:2). She also submitted a past due invoice from "Carl Krueger Construction" made out to a misspelled version of M.T.'s name totaling \$535.57. (15:3). She also asked that Mr. Robinson bear the cost of a new door, priced at \$292.81 as well as the cost of new locks priced at \$250. (15:3-4). She asked that Mr. Robinson reimburse her for \$300 for "Acupuncture and Massage" as well as \$60 in parking costs related to court appearances. (15:5). The grand total was \$1,848.21. (15).

The circuit court stated that it would not award restitution for the acupuncture expenses. (48:8); (App. 112). Counsel for Mr. Robinson indicated that he was only challenging the \$535.57 payment to Carl Krueger Construction as the cost did not seem "reasonable." (48:9); (App. 113).

M.T. was sworn as a witness and questioned by the circuit court. (48:10); (App. 114). She told the circuit court that the amount in question related to the construction company temporarily boarding up the broken door pending its repair. (48:10); (App. 114). She stated it was "a crime how much they charged." (48:10); (App. 114). Neither party had questions for M.T. (48:11); (App. 115). Counsel for Mr.

Robinson indicated that he would have liked to question Mr. Krueger had he been present, which he was not.<sup>3</sup> (48:11); (App. 115).

The circuit court then ruled on the disputed amount:

I think it is appropriate. Based upon her testimony, under oath, that is what she had to pay to repair the damages. Now, we may think that Mr. Crueger overcharged her. I think she thinks Mr. Crueger overcharged her, but that is what she had to pay. So \$1,548.21 to [M.T].

(48:11); (App. 115).

Mr. Robinson's total restitution amount, joint and several with his co-defendants, is therefore \$6,188.21. (53); (App. 105).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in awarding \$300 in restitution to K.S. and \$535.57 to M.T. With respect to the disputed award to K.S., the circuit court failed to faithfully apply the requirements of Wis. Stats. §§ 973.20(2)(b) and 973.20(14)(a) as there was insufficient proof to conclude that the \$300 award was a reasonable repair or replacement cost not otherwise covered by insurance. With respect to M.T., the circuit court failed to faithfully apply 973.20(2)(b) and 973.20(14)(a) as there was insufficient proof to conclude that the \$535.57 award was a reasonable repair cost.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  Krueger is consistently misspelled in the transcript; counsel is using the spelling in the invoice included in the record at 15:3.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court Erroneously Exercised Its Discretion In Awarding Restitution to K.S. and M.T.
  - A. Legal principles and standard of review.
    - 1. A restitution order is reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Restitution is governed by the statutory procedures set forth in Wis. Stat. § 973.20. Interpretation of those statutory requirements is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 2005 WI App 201, ¶ 10, 287 Wis. 2d 381, 704 N.W.2d 625. "However, trial courts have discretion in deciding on the amount of restitution and in determining whether the defendant's criminal activity was a substantial factor in causing any expenses for which restitution is claimed." *Id*. In reviewing the circuit court order, this Court must "examine the record to determine whether the trial court logically interpreted the facts, applied the proper legal standard and used a demonstrated, rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Id*.

"The term 'discretion' contemplates a process of reasoning which depends on facts in the record or reasonably derived by inference from the record that yield a conclusion based on logic and founded on proper legal standards." *State v. Delgado*, 223 Wis. 2d 270, 280–81, 588 N.W.2d 1 (1999). "The record on appeal must reflect the circuit court's reasoned application of the appropriate legal standard to the relevant facts of the case." *Id.* An appropriate exercise of discretion must also be based on more than the arbitrary judgments of the circuit court. *Edwards v. Edwards*, 97 Wis. 2d 111, 117, 293 N.W.2d 160 (1980). While appellate review of discretionary determinations is deferential, the standard is not without meaning and requires that the ruling at issue be, among other descriptors, consistent with "the essential demands of fairness." *State v. Koch*, 144 Wis. 2d 838, 847, 426 N.W.2d 586, (1988); *see also Martindale v. Ripp*, 2001 WI 113, ¶ 45, 246 Wis. 2d 67, 97, 629 N.W.2d 698 (discussing legal standard).

2. Legal standard for awarding restitution.

When restitution is contested, the claimant has the burden of proving their loss by a preponderance of the evidence. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a). When that claimed loss results from damaged property, Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2) governs. That statute reads:

(2) If a crime considered at sentencing resulted in damage to or loss or destruction of property, the restitution order may require that the defendant:

(a) Return the property to the owner or owner's designee; or

(b) If return of the property under par. (a) is impossible, impractical or inadequate, pay the owner or owner's designee the reasonable repair or replacement cost or the greater of:

1. The value of the property on the date of its damage, loss or destruction; or

2. The value of the property on the date of sentencing, less the value of any part of the property returned, as of the date of its return. The value of retail merchandise shall be its retail value.

When determining damages, the circuit court is further guided by sub. (5) which states that the defendant may be ordered to

> Pay all special damages, but not general damages, substantiated by evidence in the record, which could be recovered in a civil action against the defendant for his or her conduct in the commission of a crime considered at sentencing.

Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(5)(a).

B. The circuit court's order regarding K.S. constitutes an arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of discretion.

K.S. claimed that she was entitled to funds related to property damage as a result of two separate expenses: her insurance deductible (which, in context of her other request, presumably went to the cost of repairing the door) and a separate out of pocket cost for the door replacement amounting to \$300. (9).

There was no documentation to explain why the cost of the door exceeded the apparent insurance payout. Without an adequate explanation by the claimant, the circuit court was left to speculate that the insurance company may have "said the door was only worth so much when they paid for everything, and it was \$300 more." (48:6); (App. 110). It also hypothesized that K.S. may have made the decision to get a "stronger"—and therefore more expensive—door as a result of the burglary. (48:6); (App. 110).

There are at least three problems with the court's discretionary determination that K.S. was entitled to \$300 in restitution.

First, K.S. did not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the additional \$300 payout was recoverable under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2)(b) as a "reasonable" repair or replacement cost. Because sub. 5 of the statute explicitly directs the reader to consult the law of damages as it applies to civil actions, a review of WIS JI-Civil 1804 (damage to repairable property) is instructive:

The second measure of damage is the "Cost of Repair" rule. If the property can be restored to its condition before the [damage], compensation to the owner is measured by the reasonable cost of the repairs necessary to restore the property to its prior condition. The measure under this second rule is the reasonable cost to restore the property to its former condition, **not what may have been the actual cost of repair.** 

WIS JI-Civil 1804. (brackets in original; emphasis added).

In this case, there was absolutely no evidence submitted as to what repairs were actually done and what those repairs cost. That error should have been fatal to K.S., as she had the burden of submitting such evidence. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a). Thus, as a threshold matter, the lack of an explanation as to why the extra \$300 was warranted should have independently disqualified that claim. An award of restitution, unsupported by evidence, cannot constitute a reasoned exercise of discretion.

Going further, a review of the evidence suggests that even if such documentation had been produced, the \$300 was still improperly awarded. Based on K.S.' representations, it is clear that there had already been an insurance claim relating to the damaged door. (9:2). This suggests that the repair or replacement costs *were* fairly assessed—and reimbursed—by the homeowner's insurance company. The fact that an additional \$300 was then paid out of pocket is therefore a significant red flag, as it suggests a possible dispute between the homeowner and the insurance company at least—as to the reasonable repair or replacement cost of the door. That is precisely what the circuit court inferred in its comments. (48:6); (App. 110). Thus, the only evidence which the circuit court did have was evidence that the cost may have been unreasonable—at least from the insurance adjuster's point of view—and that is not a sufficient basis for a legally adequate exercise of discretion.

The second problem is created by the circuit court's speculation that the victim took this opportunity to upgrade their damaged property and to install a stronger door. (48:6); (App. 110). However, that would mean that the extra \$300 is clearly *not* an appropriate replacement cost under either the statute or the jury instruction, which distinguish between actual and reasonable costs. If the circuit court is correct, then the \$300 award is clearly improper under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2)(b). The law simply does not allow an aggrieved property owner to obtain a windfall by having the defendant pay for an upgrade to their damaged property. And, because there is no other statutory authority to require Mr. Robinson to reimburse K.S. for a property upgrade, the award is again inconsistent with an adequate exercise of discretion.

Third, there was absolutely no evidence that this award was appropriate under the alternative procedure outlined in the statute, which would require Mr. Robinson to repay the approximate value of the property as it existed before the damage was done. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2)(b)1. While this may be a difficult and—from the victim's point of view, potentially undesirable—means of determining restitution, the circuit court could have tried to assign a value to the door as it existed before it was kicked in by Mr. Robinson and his coconspirators. However, there was no attempt to justify the award under this alternative.

Accordingly, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in ordering Mr. Robinson to pay this amount given the lack of proof to support the proposed request and the apparent unreasonableness of the proposed repair or replacement cost.

This Court should therefore vacate that portion of the judgment of conviction imposing \$300 in restitution to K.S.

C. The circuit court's order regarding M.T. constitutes an arbitrary and unreasonable exercise of discretion.

M.T. also asked for repair costs—in this case, the cost of temporarily boarding up a broken door until it could be permanently replaced. (48:10); (App. 114). The cost of that repair was \$535.57. (48:9); (App. 113). Problematically, both the circuit court and the victim agreed that this was an unreasonable and excessive cost. (48:10-11); (App. 114-115). Like K.S., the victim also did not present further documentation of what was done or why the cost was so high. The only documentation presented was a past due invoice and, as counsel for Mr. Robinson pointed out, the contractor in question was never called as a witness to justify the cost.

As the foregoing discussion indicates, M.T. had the burden of proving the reasonableness of the proposed repair cost. Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a). She failed to carry that burden and, in fact, was candid that the amount in question was patently *unreasonable* in her view. Accordingly, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in ordering that Mr. Robinson should be responsible for the cost. Restitution is not governed by the victim's requests alone—as the circuit court seemed to apply in its ruling. Rather, restitution must be ordered in compliance with the relevant legal authorities. In this case, the court was required to apply the "reasonable cost of repair" rule. Using the civil jury instruction, this means that the circuit court cannot inflexibly award the actual repair costs—only those costs which, in its discretion, it finds to be "reasonable." In departing from statutory guidance, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion.

This Court should therefore vacate that portion of the order awarding \$535.57 to M.T.

#### CONCLUSION

Mr. Robinson therefore respectfully requests that this Court grant the relief requested.