RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 06-25-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP259-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DAMIEN FAROLD ROBINSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7323 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) lloydkd@doj.state.wi.us

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in ordering Damien Farold Robinson to pay restitution.

The circuit court inherently said no.

This Court should say no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication.

INTRODUCTION

Robinson pleaded guilty to committing a string of burglaries in the Milwaukee area in 2014. At sentencing, the victims presented evidence of their losses. The court, exercising its discretion, ordered Robinson to pay about \$6000 in restitution.

Undeterred by the high hurdle he must surmount to succeed on appeal, Robinson challenges part of this order. According to Robinson, the court erred in ordering him to pay about \$800 of the \$6000. But because the circuit court properly exercised its discretion, Robinson is wrong.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In late 2014, Robinson took part in a series of burglaries in the Milwaukee area in which he and his friend would "kick in the door" of the victim's home, steal items,

and flee.¹ (R. 2.) As relevant here,² Robinson broke into Betsy Marlow's³ home in Wauwatosa while she was gone and stole cash, a laptop, and a television. (R. 2:5–6.) Robinson damaged her back door, breaking its lower half. (R. 2:6.)

Brenda Star was home asleep in her basement when she heard a knock on her door, followed by a loud "boom." (R. 2:7.) She could then hear two people walking around on the first floor of her home. (R. 2:7.) She called 911, but hid in her basement until the police arrived. (R. 2:7.) From Star's home, Robinson stole a television and a watch. (R. 2:7.) As he did in burglarizing Marlow's home, Robinson caused damage to Star's back door and frame. (R. 2:7.)

When Robinson was eventually caught, the State charged him with nine counts of burglary, as a party to the crime, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.10(1m)(a), for his role in the crime spree. (R. 2.) Pursuant to a plea agreement, Robinson pleaded guilty to four of the counts, while the remaining counts were dismissed and read in. 4 (R. 22; 47:3.)

¹ The State relies on the facts in the criminal complaint, which Robinson agreed may form the factual basis of his pleas. (R. 2; 47:18.)

² The State limits its statement of the case to the facts necessary to understand Robinson's sole claim on appeal, which is that the court erred in awarding restitution to two victims.

³ To comply with Wis. Stat. § 809.86, the State uses pseudonyms in place of the victims' names.

⁴ Robinson's burglary of Marlow's home constituted one of the four convictions, whereas Robinson's burglary of Star's home was a dismissed and read-in crime. (R. 2; 22; 47:18–19.) But for purposes of restitution, a crime considered at sentencing is both a crime for which the defendant was convicted and a read-in crime. See Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a).

At sentencing, the court considered the claims of the victims who had submitted requests for restitution. (R. 48:2–13.) Marlow sought \$1000 in restitution, which included \$500 to cover the insurance deductible, \$200 in lost wages, and \$300 to replace her door that was broken during the course of the burglary. (R. 2:6; 9:1; 48:5–6.) Marlow's statement and accompanying restitution worksheet, both of which were submitted to the court, stated that the latter two amounts were not covered by her insurance. (R. 9:2; 48:5–6.) Robinson objected to Marlow's request for the additional \$300 for the door, wondering if it was included in the deductible. (R. 48:5.)

The court granted Marlow's request for restitution for both the deductible and the additional amount for the door, reasoning that Marlow had paid more for the door than the insurance company allowed and that the overage was reasonable. (R. 48:6.) But the court denied Marlow's request for reimbursement for lost wages. (R. 48:5.)

Star sought \$1848.21 in restitution. (R. 15; 48:7.) She asked for compensation for the items Robinson stole—a television, a watch, and a wireless keyboard—as well as reimbursement for a replacement door, and the costs associated with boarding up the door to secure her house, replacing the door, and installing locks. (R. 15; 48:7–10.) She also asked to be reimbursed for parking fees that she paid to go to court and for acupuncture treatments she received for anxiety. (R. 15:4–5; 48:8.) Robinson objected to paying the \$535.57 to board up the door because Star's receipt did not specify what work was done and he did not believe the cost was reasonable. (R. 48:9.)

The court disagreed with Robinson, granting Star restitution on all of her claims but the acupuncture. (R. 48:9–11.) The court said that while Star may have been

overcharged to have her door boarded up, she had to incur that cost and it was reasonable to make it part of restitution. (R. 48:11.)

The court sentenced Robinson to a total term of 12 years' initial confinement, to be followed by eight years' extended supervision. (R. 22.) The court ordered Robinson to pay restitution, jointly and severally, with his co-actors in specific amounts to each victim, including \$800 to Marlow, and \$1548.21 to Star. (R. 22:1.)

Robinson appeals, challenging part of the restitution award to Marlow and part of the award to Star.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision to award restitution, including the amount, is committed to the circuit court's discretion and this Court will reverse that decision only when that discretion is exercised erroneously. *State v. Gibson*, 2012 WI App 103, ¶ 8, 344 Wis. 2d 220, 822 N.W.2d 500.

In reviewing an exercise of discretion, this Court "examine[s] the record to determine whether the circuit court logically interpreted the facts, applied the proper legal standard and used a demonstrated, rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *State v. Longmire*, 2004 WI App 90, ¶ 16, 272 Wis. 2d 759, 681 N.W.2d 534.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it ordered Robinson to pay the amounts of restitution that he now challenges.

A. Relevant law on restitution.

Wisconsin Stat. § 973.20 governs restitution. The trial court must order restitution for a crime considered at

sentencing "unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1r).⁵

"A primary purpose of restitution is to compensate the victim." *Gibson*, 344 Wis. 2d 220, ¶ 10. The court may require a defendant to pay special damages that the victim sustained and which the evidence in the record supports. *State v. Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d 358, 365, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999). Special damages "represent the victim's actual pecuniary loss." *Id.* The victim must prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence. *See* Wis. Stat. $\S 973.20(14)(a)$.

Granting a victim restitution is the rule, not the exception. State v. Canady, 2000 WI App 87, ¶ 8, 234 Wis. 2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147. The restitution statute must be interpreted broadly so that victims may recover their losses. Id.

⁵ Although a circuit court's determination of the *amount* of restitution is discretionary, a determination of the court's *authority* to order restitution is a question of law. *See State v. Rouse*, 2002 WI App 107, ¶ 6, 254 Wis. 2d 761, 647 N.W.2d 286. But Robinson does not challenge the court's authority to order the restitution at issue; he challenges only the court's discretionary determination of the amount. (Robinson's Br. 7.)

- B. The circuit court's decision that Robinson must pay \$835.57 in restitution was not an erroneous exercise of discretion.
 - 1. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in granting Marlow restitution for out-of-pocket expenses to replace her broken door.

Marlow submitted a request for restitution that included reimbursement of \$300 to cover the cost of the replacement door that she said was "not covered by insurance." (R. 9:1.) The court granted Marlow's request. (R. 22; 48:6.) The court properly exercised its discretion in awarding Marlow restitution for the cost of the door.

At the plea hearing, Robinson admitted that he burglarized Marlow's home, which caused her property loss and damage. (R. 2; 22; 47:4–5, 18–19.) Specifically, Robinson broke Marlow's back door and she had to replace it. (R. 2:6; 9:1; 48:5–6.) She told the court that the insurance company did not reimburse her for the full cost of the replacement door, so she asked for Robinson to pay the remaining cost in restitution. (R. 9:1; 48:5–6.) This remaining cost—\$300—was a special damage incurred as a direct result of Robinson's actions. Thus, the circuit court's order that Robinson pay this amount in restitution was a proper exercise of the court's discretion.

Robinson complains that the circuit court's award to Marlow was arbitrary and an unreasonable exercise of its discretion for three reasons: (1) there was "absolutely no evidence" to support Marlow's request for reimbursement; (2) Marlow's potential upgrade to her door was inappropriate under the restitution statute; and (3) there was no evidence of the door's previous value. Robinson's complaints are meritless.

Robinson first seems to argue that to succeed on her claim, Marlow had to submit some kind of documentary evidence of her loss and her failure to do so should have been "fatal" to her claim. 6 But the State is aware of no authority that holds that a circuit court may not award restitution in the absence of a victim's documentary evidence. Marlow's averment to the court that she suffered a loss in a greater amount than that covered by insurance was enough to satisfy her evidentiary burden of proof. See State v. Queever, 2016 WI App 87, ¶ 16 n.2, 372 Wis. 2d 388, 887 N.W.2d 912 (stating that the burden of proof in restitution matters is the preponderance of the evidence). It is not incredible to believe that Marlow would have to pay more for a door than an insurance company would cover and Robinson has not shown otherwise. And furthermore, Robinson has failed to show how the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in finding Marlow's claim credible.

Robinson points to the circuit court's next "speculation" that Marlow upgraded her door and argues that, if Marlow did so, the \$300 is not recoverable in restitution under Wis. Stat. § 973.20(2)(b).7 But Robinson's argument is flawed for several reasons. First, the circuit court's statement that Marlow "[m]aybe . . . got a stronger door because of what happened" is, as Robinson says, speculation. (R. 48:6.) There is no evidentiary support for the circuit court's statement. Maybe Marlow bought a stronger door or maybe she replaced her door with a door similar to the one she had, but the insurance company simply would not compensate her for its full cost.

⁶ Robinson's Br. 10.

⁷ Robinson's Br. 11.

And second, Robinson's reliance on Wis. § 973.20(2)(b) is misplaced. The State agrees that section 973.20(2)(b) instructs a circuit court to order a defendant to pay an owner for the reasonable repair or replacement cost of stolen or damaged property. But Robinson ignores that a victim is entitled to restitution when she can show that the defendant's actions for items that may make her feel more secure when the defendant violated her sense of safety. See State v. Johnson, 2002 WI App 166, ¶ 21, 256 Wis. 2d 871, 649 N.W.2d 284 (upholding award of restitution for home security system that was installed to make child victim feel safer); State v. Behnke, 203 Wis. 2d 43, 60–61, 553 N.W.2d 265 (Ct. App. 1996) (upholding award of restitution for a new dead bolt). Presumably here—where Robinson broke into Marlow's home by kicking in her back door—a stronger door would qualify as a special damage. Therefore, even though the circuit court's statement was speculative, awarding restitution for a stronger door in this case is not an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Finally, Robinson argues that the circuit court could have, but did not, evaluate the cost of Marlow's door before he destroyed it and then assign this cost to him. This argument ignores that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion by finding Marlow's submission credible. And having found Marlow's submission credible, and concluded that she was entitled to \$800 in restitution—which included \$300 for the door—the court was under no obligation to decide how much money the door cost before Robinson broke it. And declining to assign a pre-destruction value to the door was certainly not an erroneous exercise of the court's discretion.

⁸ Robinson's Br. 11–12.

In sum, the court's decision to assign Robinson \$800 in restitution costs pertaining to his burglary of Marlow's home was supported by the evidence and a proper exercise of the court's discretion.

2. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in granting Star restitution for the costs to board up her door to secure her home.

Star submitted a request for restitution that included a request that Robinson reimburse her for the \$500-plus amount she paid to Carl Krueger Construction to board up her back door. (R. 12:2; 15:3; 48:10.) In support of her claim, she provided the court with a receipt from the construction company that billed her for \$535.57. (R. 15:3; 48:8–10.) The court granted Star's request. Again, the court properly exercised its discretion in awarding Star restitution for the money she spent to secure her home.

Although Robinson did not admit that he burglarized Star's home, he understood that the facts underlying the charge that he did so would be accepted as true by the court and the crime would be read-in at sentencing. (R. 47:6, 16–19.) The complaint alleged that Robinson burglarized Star's home while she hid in the basement. (R. 2:7.) He stole a television, a watch, and damaged her door and door frame. (R. 2:7.) She told the court that she had been "severely affected" by Robinson's action, suffering from PTSD, anxiety, and stress. (R. 12:1.) She said that she was afraid to be alone, to be in her own home, and of loud noises. (R. 12:1.)

At sentencing, Star asked for the \$500-plus reimbursement, telling the court that it "was to board-up the door that they busted in." (R. 48:9.) The court said, "That seems like a legitimate expense since she also has a receipt for it." (R. 48:9.) But Robinson objected, complaining that the

receipt did not "say what was done" and that the amount did "not seem reasonable." (R. 48:9.)

The court then had Star sworn and asked her what the charge to Krueger construction was for. (R. 48:10.) Star replied, under oath, that she paid him to board up the door. (R. 48:10.) When pressed by the court on whether the \$500-plus amount was what she "actually" paid, Star responded, "They came out that day and boarded-up so my home was secure." (R. 48:10.) Neither the State nor Robinson asked Star any questions. (R. 48:10–11.) The court granted Star's request, finding that Krueger may have overcharged Star for his work, but that the amount was "what she had to pay." (R. 48:11.)

The court's exercise of discretion in awarding Star \$535.57 was proper because Star not only told the court that she paid someone to board up her home as a result of Robinson's actions, she submitted a receipt and testified under oath about the amount of money she spent to keep her home secure. She amply met her burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Robinson's actions caused her to lose her door and that she required a stop-gap before she could get a new door. And she showed that she paid over \$500 to have the door boarded up before she could get the new door. The court properly exercised its discretion in ordering Robinson to pay Star \$535.57 in restitution.

On appeal, Robinson complains that the court's order was "arbitrary" and an unreasonable exercise of its discretion because Star's request was not supported by adequate evidence and because Krueger overcharged her for his work. 9 Robinson's complaints are meritless.

⁹ Robinson's Br. 12–13.

The evidence showed that Robinson was involved in destroying Star's door and, as a direct result of Robinson's actions, Star paid to have her home secured until the door could be replaced. The latter is supported both by Star's testimony and an invoice from a construction company to her supporting her claim. This evidence satisfies her burden of proof. Robinson's argument to the contrary—that the receipt from Krueger is not enough, that Star's testimony is not enough, or that she must present "further documentation of what was done"—is unsupported by any authority. Star's evidence was ample to meet her burden to show by a preponderance of the evidence that she is entitled to relief.

And finally, Robinson's complaint that Star's request for restitution was unreasonable because Star may have been overcharged by Krueger is unavailing. Robinson is not entitled to have Star ask for bids from contractors to board up her home after Robinson broke in and destroyed her door. And he is not entitled to pick the lowest bidder.

Robinson cites Wis. Stat. § 973.20(14)(a) to argue that Star had the burden to prove the "reasonableness of the proposed repair cost." But the subsection says no such thing. Section 973.20(14)(a) merely states that the victim bears the burden of demonstrating her loss by a preponderance of the evidence. And Star did so here.

Robinson broke into her home and damaged her door, which required her to hire a repair company that day to secure her home. (R. 48:10.) She paid \$535.57 to the company for that service. (R. 48:10.) The circuit court found Star's testimony and submission reasonable and Robinson offers no credible argument to disturb that decision on appeal.

In sum, the circuit court's order awarding restitution to Marlow and Star was not an erroneous exercise of its discretion.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the judgment of conviction.